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Appear ances: Anthony J. Polito, Esquire, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, for
cont est ant - respondent Consol i dati on Coal Conpany; David Street,
Attorney, U S. Departnent of Labor, Phil adel phia, Pennsylvani a,
for respondent-petitioner NMSHA

Bef or e: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Proceedi ngs

These proceedi ngs concern three contests filed Consolidation
Coal Conpany (hereinafter Consol) challenging the validity of the
captioned orders and citation issued pursuant to the Federal M ne
Safety and Health Act of 1977. The civil penalty proceeding
concerns a proposal for assessnent of civil penalty filed by MSHA
seeking a civil penalty assessnent for the citation issued in
Docket WEVA 80-117-R. The three contests were originally
adj udi cated by former Comm ssion Judge Janes A. Laurenson, and he
i ssued
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his decision in those cases on Cctober 7, 1980. Consol's
petition for discretionary review by the Conmm ssion was deni ed,
and Judge Laurenson's decision becane the final Conmm ssion
decision in this matter. Subsequently, on Decenber 11, 1980,
Consol filed a petition for reviewin the United States Court of
Appeal s for the Fourth G rcuit, Consolidation Coal Conpany v.
Secretary of Labor, No. 80-1862. The civil penalty case was
stayed pending court review. On Cctober 13, 1981, the Court
vacat ed the decision and renmanded the matter for further
proceedi ngs consistent with its opinion. The cases were
subsequent |y assigned to nme for further consideration and

adj udi cati on.

Applicable Statutory Provisions

1. The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30
U S.C 0801 et seq., and in particular sections 104(a) and (b),
and 104(d)(1).

2. Section 110(i) of the 1977 Act, 30 U S. C. [1820(i),
whi ch requires consideration of the following criteria before a
civil penalty may be assessed for a proven violation: (1) the
operator's history of previous violations, (2) the
appropri ateness of such penalty to the size of the business of
the operator, (3) whether the operator was negligent, (4) the
effect on the operator's ability to continue in business; (5) the
gravity of the violation, and (6) the denonstrated good faith of
the operator in attenpting to achi eve rapid conpliance after
notification of the violation

3. Commission Rules, 29 CF.R [02700.1 et seq.
| ssues

Counsel for the parties are in agreenent that the foll ow ng
i ssues remain to be decided on remand:

1. In light of all the evidence of record, including
but not Iimted to all hearsay testinony excluded or
not considered by the trier of fact, was Order No.
0808596 properly issued on Cctober 29, 1979.

2. In light of the recent decision by the Conm ssion
in Cenent Division, National Gypsum Co., 3 FNMSHRC 822
(1981), was the violation described in Citation No.
0808599 (issued on Cctober 30, 1979) of such nature as
could significantly and substantially contribute to the
cause and effect of a coal or other mne safety or

heal th hazard within the nmeaning of Section 104(d) (1)
of the Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977.

3. The appropriate penalty, if any, to be assessed.
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Di scussi on

Docket No. WEVA 80-116-R

On Cctober 26, 1979, at approximately 6:15 p.m, a section
104(a) citation no. 0808594, was served on Consol charging a
vi ol ati on of mandatory safety standard 30 CFR 75.200. The
"condition or practice"cited by the inspector is described on the
face of the citation as foll ows:

The approved mne roof control plan was not being
followed in 4 Right, 5 North (087) section in that roof
bolts were spaced 4 feet 7 inches to 6 feet 2 inches
apart and fromthe coal rib in approxi mtely 150
different locations in the coal conveyor belt entry
fromthe tailpiece to 18a00 SS and fromthe belt entry
to the face of No. 30 roomfor a total of approximtely
300 feet in length. C. Causey and T. Thonmas, Section
Foremen. 4 feet 6 inch centers are maximumrequired in
flat face mining in the plan

The inspector who issued the citation made a finding that
the all eged violation of section 75.200, was "significant and
substantial”, and he directed that the cited conditions be abated
by 8:00 a.m, Monday, Cctober 29, 1979. Thereafter, at
approxi mately 8:55 a.m, Cctober 29, 1979 the inspector refused
to extend the tine for abatenment and issued a section 104(b)
wi t hdrawal order no. 0808596 covering the sane area of the mne
covered by the underlying citation, nanely, the belt entry from
the tail piece to 18400 SS and fromthe belt entry to the face of
No. 30 roomin the 5 North, 4 Right section of the Shoemaker
M ne. The order stated as foll ows:

Little effort had been nade to abate Citation 0808594
in that only approximtely 15 roof bolts had been
installed to support the roof in the area that was
cited. The condition was reported six straight shifts
and worked on only on 10/29/79, 12:00 to 8:00 a. m
shift according to the preshift record book

VWEVA 80-117-R and WEVA 80- 659

These consol i dated proceedi ngs concern a section 104(d) (1)
"unwarrantable failure” citation issued to Consolidation Coa
Conmpany (herei nafter Consol) by an MSHA i nspector on Cctober 30,
1979, during the course of his mne inspection. Docket WEVA
80-117-R is a contest proceeding filed by Consol challenging the
legality and propriety of the citation. In his decision of
Cct ober 7, 1980, Judge Laurenson held that the citation was
properly issued and deni ed Consol's contest. Docket WEVA 80-659,
concerns a civil penalty proposal filed by MSHA on Cctober 1
1980, seeking a civil penalty assessnent for the alleged
violation set out in the citation, and both dockets have been
consol i dated for adjudication.
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The section 104(d)(1) unwarrantable failure citation no. 0808599,
was issued at approximately 11:55 a.m, on Cctober 30, 1979. The
citation alleged a violation of 30 CFR 75.200, and the "condition
or practice" described by the inspector on the face of the
citation is as foll ows:

The approved mne roof control plan was not being
followed in 4 Right, 5 North section (087) and on the
section supply track in that roof bolts were spaced
from4 feet 7 inches to 7 feet 6 inches apart and from
bolt to coal rib in approximately 350 different
| ocations that were neasured in the (intake air) No. 1
entry from30 to 33 roomand from 31, 32 and 33 roons,
and in the track from6 to 18 stopping for a total of
approxi mately 1500 feet in length and nore bolts may be
spaced wide. 4 feet 6 inches maximumin plan. WIIiam
Zanmski M ne Forenan.

In addition to his "unwarrantable failure" finding, the
i nspector determ ned that the cited violation of section 75.200
was a "significant and substantial” violation, and he fixed the
abatement tine as 8:00 a.m, Friday, Novenber 2, 1979. On
Monday, Novenber 5, 1979, the inspector refused to extend the
time for abatenent and at approximately 9:45 a.m that sane day
i ssued a section 104(b) w thdrawal order no. 0808606.

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Docket No. WEVA 80-116-R

The record adduced in this case reflects that at
approximately 6:15 p.m on Friday, October 26, 1979, NMSHA
I nspector Charles Coffield issued a section 104(a) citation no.
0808594 for a condition he observed in the 5 North, 4 R ght
section of the mne. The citation indicated that the approved
roof control plan was not being followed at approxi mately 150
different locations in that approxi mately 150 roof bolts were
spaced from four feet-seven inches to six feet-two inches apart.
The approved plan required the bolts to be on four feet-six inch
centers. Inspector Coffield fixed the abatenent tine as 8:00
a.m, Mnday, Cctober 29, 1979.

On Monday norni ng, October 29, 1979, shortly before 8:00
a.m, Inspector Coffield went back into the 5 North, 4 R ght
section, and after refusing to extend the tinme for abatenent of
the citation issued the section 104(b) w thdrawal order no.
0808596. Contestant contends that |Inspector Coffield unreasonably
exerci sed his power and that he acted arbitrarily and
capriciously in failing to extend the tine for abatement and in
i ssuing the w thdrawal order

Cont est ant does not challenge the validity of the underlying
section 104(a) citation no. 0808594, charging a violation of
mandat ory safety standard 30 CFR 75.200, for a violation of the
approved roof control plan dealing with the proper spacing of
roof bolts. Contestant's challenge in this proceedi ng concerns



the inspector's decision to refuse an extension of the abatenent
time and his decision to issue a section 104(b) w thdrawal order

on Cctober 29, 1979. 1In this regard, section 104(b) of the Act
provi des as foll ows:
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If, upon any follow up inspection of a coal or other
m ne, an authorized representative of the Secretary
finds (1) that a violation described in a citation
i ssued pursuant to subsection (a) has not been totally
abated within the period of tine originally fixed
therein or as subsequently extended, and (2) that
the period of tine for the abatenent should not be
further extended, he shall determi ne the extent of
the area affected by the violation and shall pronptly
i ssue an order requiring the operator of such mne
or his agent to inmedi ately cause all persons except
t hose persons referred to in subsection (c), to be
wi thdrawn from and to be prohibited fromentering,
such area until an authorized representative of the
Secretary determ nes that such violation has been abated.

Respondent MSHA' s Argunents

In support of its argument that order of Wthdrawal No.
0808596 was properly issued, respondent MSHA relies on the
previ ous deci sion issued by Judge Laurenson as well as its
post-trial brief filed with him Respondent takes the position
that even if | were to conclude fromthe record that supply and
mechani cal probl enms during the midnight shift of Cctober 29,
1979, prevented the tinely abatenment of citation 0808596, the
order should still stand. In support of this position respondent
relies on Judge Laurenson's conclusion that Inspector Coffield
was not advised of any such difficulties, and at 8:00 a.m,

Cct ober 29, 1979, was confronted with the fact that --

"only 15 roof bolts had been installed to correct 150
wi de spaced bolts and that abatenent work had only been
performed during one shift after issuance of the
citation."

Inits brief filed with Judge Laurenson, MSHA points to the
fact that Inspector Coffield discussed the abatenent tine with
conpany wal k-around representative Peter J. Donenick, but that
M. Domeni ck coul d not provide an estimte of how | ong the job
woul d take. Further, MSHA states that at the hearing it made an
of fer of proof that one of the roof bolters in the area told M.
Coffield that he woul d be able to bolt the cited roomon the
eveni ng of Cctober 30, but that Judge Laurenson ruled that this
was hearsay. Further, MSHA argues that in fixing the abatenent
time, M. Coffield took into account his own experience as a roof
bol ter which he had obtained at the Shoemaker mine (Tr. 300), and
that he felt that the conpany could well have corrected the
conditions within two shifts. In establishing his abatenment date,
he did not count on the operator calling in roof bolters to work
on the weekend, although he knew it was possible for it to do so
(Tr. 301, 399). At the tine the citation was issued, M.
Doneni ck did not ask for nore time for abatenent (Tr. 43), and
m ne foreman W1l iam Zanski and CGeneral Superintendent Ronald
St ovash believed that the entire bolting job could have been
performed during the mdnight shift on October 29 (Tr. 62).
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MSHA argues that when M. Coffield returned to the mne on the
nmorni ng of October 29, Inspector Coffield found that only 15
bolts had been installed in the cited area in a very snal
section near the tail piece (Tr. 302). He also noted that the
vi ol ati on had been reported by preshift exam ners on six shifts
and had been worked on only on the 29th (Tr. 302). Although he
renenbered that the conpany pulled the roof bolters out of the
section after he issued the citation on the 26th, he stil
bel i eved that the conpany could have left bolters in the section
on that shift and acconplished a great deal towards abating the
violation (Tr. 302-303). Another factor which weighed in his
deci si on was that managenent personnel did not seemto know on
the 29th what work had been done to abate (Tr. 66, 302-303, 308).
In sum he found that the conpany had not nade an honest, all out
effort to correct the violation (Tr. 433-434).

Citing the applicable case | aw, MSHA asserts that the two
general criteria addressed by the Conmm ssion's Judges in dealing
with cases of this kind are the reasonabl eness of the original
abat ement period and the reasonabl eness of the inspector's
decision not to extend that period. |Itmann Coal Conpany v.
Secretary of Labor, 1 BNA MSHC 2350 (FMSHRC Docket No. HOPE
79- 307, February 26, 1980), U S. Steel Corporation v. Secretary
of Labor, 1 BNA MsSHC 2407 (FMSHRC Docket Nos. WEVA 80-54-R and
80-55-R, April 8, 1980). The latter criteria depends on the
facts confronting the inspector when he wote his section 104(b)
order. U S. Steel Corporation v. Secretary of Labor, FMSHRC
Docket No. WEVA 79-172-R (June 19, 1980), citing U S. Steel
Corporation v. Secretary of Interior, 7 IBVA 109, 116 (1976).
Facts to be considered include the diligence of the operator's
effort to abate, the extent of nechanical or other difficulties
encountered in abatement, and the seriousness of the unabated
hazar d.

MSHA argues that on the facts presented in this case
I nspector Coffield acted reasonably when he initially fixed the
abatement tine as 8:00 a.m, Monday, Cctober 29, 1979. G ven the
fact that he received no answer from wal karound representative
Dom nick to his inquiry as to how | ong abat enent woul d t ake,
taking into account his own experience and information he
received fromroof bolters in the area, and taking into account
the fact that mne foreman Zanski testified that he hoped to
fully acconplish abatenent on the first (mdnight) shift early in
t he norni ng of COctober 29, MSHA concludes that the initial
abat ement deadline was clearly a realistic one.

Wth regard to the events which transpired over the
i nterveni ng weekend, MSHA argues that contestant nmade practically
no effort to abate the violation until the early norning of
Cctober 29th in spite of the fact that about one-third of the
vi ol ati on coul d have been abated by nechanical bolters on October
26th, without resort to transferring any resin bolters to the
cited section. Failing progress on Friday night, MSHA suggests
that contestant could have called in extra bolters for Saturday
work and for at |east one shift of work on Sunday. Likew se, it
coul d have asked bolters to double over into Saturday norning.



Nevert hel ess, applicant waited until
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the early hours of Mnday, Cctober 29, to begin work, and NMSHA
dsm sses as hearsay M. Zanski's testinony that problens with
power and supplies, as well as a malfunctioning bolting machine,

i npeded the contestant's abatenment progress. Further, NMSHA
contends that no information was provided as to how long it took
to correct those problens, and |Inspector Coffield was not advised
as to the problens on Cctober 29, nor did contestant denonstrate
that the problenms were sufficient to excuse its failure to
install nore than 15 roof bolts.

Finally, MSHA argues that contestant's failure to nmount a
diligent effort to abate the citation was aggravated by the
serious nature of the violation cited and that taken as a whole
the situation which confronted | nspector Coffield on Monday
nmor ni ng, Cctober 29, 1979, was a half-hearted effort by the
contestant to correct a serious violation, which by the adm ssion
of its own mine foreman, could have been abated in the tine
al l owed. Conceding that contestant voluntarily closed the
section down, MSHA still argues that nechanics were in the area
and were exposed to the hazards there, and points to the fact
that I nspector Coffield had no guarantee that contestant woul d
not reactivate the section as soon as he had granted an
extension. In the circunstances, MSHA concludes that M.
Coffield had no viable option other than to i ssue the section
104(b) wi thdrawal order

Cont est ant Consol i dati on Coal Conpany Argunents

Contestant argues that in concluding that it had failed to
establish that the period of time for abatenent shoul d have been
ext ended, Judge Laurenson relied upon several facts which were
not only not supported by substantial evidence but which were in
some instances contrary to the undi sputed evidence introduced at
the hearing in this case. Mreover, contestant states that Judge
Laurenson rejected as hearsay certain of its evidence and
concl uded that contestant had failed to prove that supply and
mechani cal problenms prevented its abatenent efforts during the
m dni ght shift on Monday, Cctober 29, 1979.

Cont estant asserts that when Inspector Coffield inforned M.
Dom ni ck on the evening of Cctober 26 that there were roof bolt
spacing violations in the area covered by the citation, M.
Dom ni ck suspected that sinmlar violations mght also exist in
other areas of the section (Tr. p. 18, 20). Thus, after
consul ting by phone with Ron Stovash, the CGeneral Superintendent,
and Bill Zanski, the CGeneral M ne Foreman, M. Dom ni ck deci ded
to shut the section down so that it could be checked out further
(Tr. p. 20-21). Oiginally, M. Domnick had told section
foreman causey to |l eave the center bolters in the 5 North, 4
Ri ght section and to take the rest of his crew to another section
(Tr. p. 18). However, when M. Dom nick |learned that resin bolts
were needed in the conveyor belt entry and that no resin bolts
were available in the section at the tinme, he than told M.
Causey to take his bolters out of the section with the rest of
the crew (Tr. p. 18-19). The entire section had been shut down
and all the enpl oyees had |left when M. Dom nick and | nspector



Coffield left the section (Tr. p. 20).
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Cont estant takes issue with Judge Laurenson's previous finding
that it offered no explanation or justification for its actions
in sendi ng the nechani cal roof bolting crew out of the section
after the citation was issued on Friday eveni ng, COctober 26,
1979. Contestant states that CGeneral M ne Foreman Bill Zanski
who participated in the decision to close the section offered the
foll owi ng expl anati on:

Q Wiy was no bolting done in the 30 roomor in any
part of the area covered by the citation during that
evening shift [COctober 26], during the bal ance of that
shift?

A | didn't want to start up in the roonms. Wat |
wanted to do was start the center bolting fromthe
tailpiece in and correct the violation as we were

com ng in, make sure that we had all the bolts on our
four and a half foot centers fromthe tail piece in on
our haul roads and in the cross cuts that lead into the
roons instead of going up in the roomleaving the

viol ati on back behind us.

Q Wy did you not start in the tail piece [that
eveni ng] ?

A. Because we didn't have the resin bolt materials to
do this. (Tr. 58-9.)

Contestant asserts that it is clear fromthe undi sputed
testinmony of M. Zanski that he felt that it was safer to abate
the roof bolt spacing violations in the cross cut and the
conveyor belt entry before enpl oyees were asked to do abat enent
work inby in the rooms. The evidence was that all the entries in
this section had been bolted with resin bolts (Tr. 19; GX-1).
However, because the resin bolts were not available in the
section at that particular tine, no abatement work could be
started that shift (Tr. 19).

On the basis of the foregoing, contestant argues that it did
of fer a reasonable explanation for its decision not to perform
any abatenent work during the bal ance of the afternoon shift on
Friday, October 26. The entries needed resin bolts, which were
not available in the section at that tine, and nm ne nanagenent
determined that it was safer to work inby and do the entries
before the roons. Since this explanation was not contradicted,
and there is nothing in the record which would justify rejecting
it, contestant submits that a full and conpl ete expl anati on was
offered with respect to its activities during the remai nder of
the period prior to the issuance of the w thdrawal order on
Monday, October 29.
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Cont estant points out further that other necessary work had
al ready been schedul ed for Saturday and the bolters were unabl e
to do any bolting that day in the 5 North, 4 R ght section of the
mne (Tr. p. 59-61). Moreover, an equi prent nove had been
schedul ed for Sunday and since no enpl oyees can be inby equi pnent
that is being noved, no bolters were scheduled to work in the 5
North, 4 Right section on Sunday (Tr. p. 62). In addition, both
M. Zanmski and M. Stovash expl ained that they had deci ded on
Friday evening that the entire section was going to remain idle
until the roof bolt spacings in the entire section could be
checked out and, where necessary, corrected (Tr. p. 61-62,
151-52). M. Stovash further explained that his decision to
cl ose the section and to check it our further was based on
I nspector Coffield s statenent to him on the evening of the
26t h, that the sane problem (i.e., roof bolt spacings) existed in
the supply track entry (Tr. p. 151). Under these circunstances,
m ne managenment felt it would be sufficient and reasonable to try
to have sone bolting done in the section on Staurday and then to
schedul e bolters to work in the area covered by the citation
during the mdnight shift on Cctober 29 and to continue bolting
in that area while the section remained idle and was bei ng
checked (Tr. pp. 59-62).

Wth regard to Judge Laurenson's previous finding that
contestant could have called in additional roof bolters to abate
the citation on Saturday, COctober 27, or Sunday, October 28, but
el ected not to do so because nmanagenent determ ned that the
citation could be abated during the mdnight to 800 a.m shift
on Monday, October 29, contestant submits that this conclusion is
contrary to the evidence adduced in this case.

Wth respect to Sunday, Cctober 28, contestant argues that
t he undi sputed evi dence was that an equi prent nove had been
schedul ed for that day and since no enpl oyees can be inby
equi prent that is being noved, no bolters were scheduled to do
abatement work in the 5 North, 4 Right section on Sunday (Tr. p.
62). Agreeing with Judge Laurenson's finding that roof bolters
were scheduled to work and did work at the m ne on Saturday,
Cct ober 27, contestant points out that those roof bolters had
been instructed to begin abatenment of the citation upon
conpletion of their other bolting work. The bolters were
required to bolt the areas that had been m ned on Friday or
contestant would have been in violation of the |aw. However,
they were unable to conplete their other work in tinme and did not
therefore performany abatenent work in the 5 North, 4 Right
section on Saturday, October 27 (Tr. p. 59-61). Al though
contestant agrees with Judge Laurenson's finding that sone
bolters were scheduled to work on Saturday, it disagrees with his
addi tional finding that m ne managenent could or should have
called in additional roof bolters to abate the citation on
Sat urday, October 27, and contends that Judge Laurenson ignored
t he undi sput ed evi dence that Saturday work schedul es are made up
on Wednesday of each week and posted on Thursday, advising the
men who are to work and what their work assignments will be (Tr.
p. 60). Thus, contestant asserts that it is difficult, if not
i npossi bl e, to schedule on Friday evening additional men to work



on a Saturday (Tr. p. 76-77). Further, contestant argues that
Judge Laurenson's finding also ignores and is inconsistent with

I nspector Coffield s statenent that he really was not considering
that period of time (i.e., Saturday and Sunday) for abatenment but
instead felt that the citation could have been abated during
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the mdnight shift on the 29th. It was inpossible to abate the
violation in one or one and one-half shifts. Instead, contestant
cl osed down the section as soon as the citation was issued, tried
to abate what it could on Saturday and al so during the m dni ght
shift on the 29th and felt that under all the circunstances
(including particularly the fact that the entire section was

cl osed and bei ng checked), the inspector would surely extend the
time for abatenent. |In that regard, both M. Stovash and M.
Zanski reasonably believed that the citati on woul d be extended if
the section was voluntarily cl osed because ot her inspectors had
done so (Tr. p. 81-82, 155-6). However, Inspector Coffield
refused to do so

Concedi ng the evidence that only 14 bolts were installed on
the m dnight shift on Monday, Cctober 29, contestant nonethel ess
argues that power problens made it difficult to get the bolting
supplies into the section and the bolting machi ne then had
mechani cal problenms. These problens were testified to be Genera
Foreman Bill Zanski, General Superintendent Ron Stovash, and
under ground Superintendent Matt Mt kovich. Although this
evi dence was rejected as hearsay by Judge Laurenson, contestant
notes that that Court of Appeals has indicated that such evidence
was probative and shoul d be considered, and when so consi dered,
submts that it offers a reasonabl e explanation for contestant's
failure to do additional abatenment work during the mdnight shift
on Monday, Cctober 29.

Regardi ng Judge Laurenson's finding that m ne nanagenent did
not informlnspector Coffield of any alleged problens with
supplies or equi pnrent on Monday, October 29, contestant asserts
that the uncontradicted testinony is that M. Matkovich talked to
I nspector Coffield on the norning of October 29, asked himfor an
extension of tinme to abate the citation and al so explained to him
t he probl ens the Conpany had encountered, including the problem
"we had getting supplies in there" (Tr. p. 131). However, as M.
Mat kovi ch further testified, Inspector Coffield neverthel ess
refused to extend the time for abatenent (Tr. p. 131-2).

Further, contestant maintains that in considering the request for
an extension of the tine for abatenent, the inspector and Judge
Laurenson shoul d have but did not give any consideration to the
fact that m ne managenent had voluntarily closed the 5 North, 4
Ri ght section prior to issuance of the w thdrawal order on
Cctober 29. In support of this contention, contestant states
that it is undisputed that i mediately after issuance of Citation
No. 0808594 on Friday evening, Cctober 26, mne managenent cl osed
the 5 North, 4 Right section of the mne and that section was
still closed on Monday norning, Cctober 29, when | nspector
Coffield issued his withdrawal order in that section (Tr. pp. 18,
353).

Contestant submits that Inspector Coffield failed to give
any weight to its voluntary closure of the section and instead
i ssued a withdrawal order on October 29 sinply to penalize it for
not havi ng done exactly what he ordered themto do, i.e., instal
approxi mately 150 new bolts in the area covered by the citation
regardl ess of the reason or explanation for their failure to do



so. Contestant submits that voluntarily closing the entire
section for the purpose of determ ning and correcting all
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possi bl e roof spacing violations in the entire section was nore
than the Conpany was required to do in response to the origina
citation and that M. Coffield s refusal to give that fact due
consi deration in determ ning whether to extend the tinme for
abatement or issue a withdrawal order on Mnday, October 29, was
conpl etely unreasonabl e and arbitrary on his part.

Conceding that it did not insert 150 new bolts by 8:00 a. m
on Monday, Cctober 29, contestant points to the fact that neither
did it ignore the citation. Instead, it nmade a good faith effort
to conply by inserting as many new bolts as possible under the
ci rcunst ances, and by cl osing down the section and conmtting
itself to a plan which would determ ne the extent of violations
inthe entire section, contestant states it had volunatrily given
up its right to produce coal during the bal ance of the afternoon
shift on the 26th, the mndight shift on the 29th and thereafter
and mai ntains that such action on the part of nm ne nanagenent
expressed and evidenced a sincere concern for the safety of the
enpl oyees and its obligations under the 1977 Act and warranted an
extension of the time for abatement by the inspector

Contestant notes that the voluntary closure of a section
el i mi nates exposure to possible health and safety hazards, and
maintains that it is equally clear that its voluntary closure of
the section under the circunstances of this case was for the
pur pose of determ ning and correcting roof bolt spacing
violations in the entire section, rather than del ayi ng abat enent
in any particular area of the section (Tr. p. 61-62, 151-152).
Under these circunstances, contestant naintains that considerable
wei ght shoul d have been given to its voluntary cl osure of the
section. Further, contestant points to the fact that in this
case, there were no observed roof or rib falls in the 5 North, 4
Ri ght section and no history of roof falls in the section. Also,
all of the managenent wi tnesses who testified on the matter
described the roof conditions in the section as being excellent
(Tr. p. 26, 55-56, 110-11, 133-34, 165). M. Blevins, the Union
Safety Conmitteeman who testified for the Secretary, as well as
I nspector Coffield, described the roof conditions as being good
(Tr. pp.202-3, 227, 374). M. Coffield al so acknow edged that he
saw no condition with respect to the roof or ribs on Cctober 29
that was different fromthe conditions that he had observed on
Cctober 26 (Tr. p. 357). |If anything, contestant maintains the
section was safer inasnuch as 15 new bolts had been added since
the afternoon shift on the 26th and the production crew had not
been working since the citation was issued (Tr. p. 357). Finally,
cont est ant enphasi zes that Judge Laurenson hinmself found that the
condition of the roof was good when he stated as foll ows:

At all times and pl aces rel evant herein, the condition
of the roof was good in that there was no evi dence of
recent falls of supported roof and no evidence of
cracks, splits, or loose bolts. At all tines and places
rel evant herein, there was only mnimal sloughage of
the ribs. (D 3.)



~758

At pages six and seven of his decision, Judge Laurenson conments
that "Consol failed to establish that supply and mechani ca

probl ems prevents its tinmely abatenent because it presented only
hear say evi dence of such purported probl ens w thout
docunent ati on" (enphasi s added).

Inits remand of these proceedi ngs, the Court made the
foll owi ng observation:

In his opinion, the adm nistrative | aw judge excl uded,
as hearsay, testinony of Consolidation's general nine
foreman, superintendent, and underground superi nt endent
that supply and nechani cal problens prevented tinely
abatement. W conclude that this evidentiary ruling
was erroneous. The testinony was niether irrel evant
nor repetitious, and in every respect it satisfied the
requi renents for adm ssion of hearsay evidence in an
adm nistrative hearing. 5 U S.C [0556(d);
Carter-Vallace, Inc. v. Gardner, 417 F.2d 1086, 1095-96
(4th Cir. 1969). Forther, no objection was nade to its
i ntroduction. Fair appraisal of Consolidation's
defense required the admnistrative |aw judge to

consi der this probative evidence.

In support of its assertion that the bolting machi ne had
mechani cal probl enms, contestant cites pgs. 62, 131, and 154-155
of the trial transcript. The only reference that I can find to
any inoperative bolting machine is at pg. 155 where mne
superintendent Stovash alludes to "problenms with the bolting
machi ne breaki ng down", and "power problens which prevented

supplies frombeing transported to the section.” M. Stovash
further testified that he was first nmade aware of these problens
on Monday nmorning. 1In view of the fact that the section was

cl osed down, a reasonable effort was made to start bolting on the
afternoon of the 26th, and sone bolting was in fact acconplished
on the midnight shift on Cctober 29th, and he fully expected

I nspector Coffield to extend the abatenment tine.

General mne foreman Zanski testified that 13 or 14 bolts
were installed during the m dnight shift on October 29th, and
when asked why additional bolts were not installed, he replied as
follows (Tr. 63):

A. Well, we had power trouble and we had trouble
getting the DC power. W had supply nmen bring the
resin bolting material into the section. They got
there late with it. Also, the center bolter, after
they got it there, the center bolter was

mal functioning. It was down. It took thema while to
get that fixed.

Q | amnot sure what effect the power has on the roof
bolting. Coule you explain that, please?

A.  Yes. Mtors run on DC power. Jeeps, porter buses,
and that is how we transported the resin material into



t he section.
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As for the trial testinmony of underground foreman Matkovich
aside froman off-hand remark at pg. 131 dealing with sone
unspecified "problens we had getting supplies in there", M.
Mat kovi ch' s testimony makes no reference to any mechani cal
problenms. In addition, M. Mitkovich testified that when he
spoke with Inspector Coffield over the tel ephone, he specifically
explained to himthe problens with abating a citation received at
the end of the last shift on a Friday and the problens with
getting necessary supplies on the section. M. Matkovich al so
testified that he specifically told M. Coffield that he needed
"a little nore time" for abatenent, and that since mne
managenment had voluntarily shut the section down a little nore
time would not matter. However, Inspector Coffield sinply
i ndicated that he could not do it (Tr. 131-132). Further, it is
clear that this conversation took place after M. Coffield issued
his closure order (Tr. 131).

I nspector Coffield testified that when he initially
establ i shed the abatenent tinme as 8:00 a.m, Monday, October 29,
1979, M. Dominick did not protest (Tr. 301). Wen asked why he
i ssued the order and refused to extend the abatenment tine, M.
Coffield respondent as follows (Tr. 302-303):

Q Wy did you issue the withdrawal order on the 29t h?

A | found that little effort had been nade to abate
the conditions cited. Only 15 roof bolts had been
installed to support the roof in these areas. Before
goi ng underground | checked the record books of the

m ne and the particular record book of this section.
The conditions had been reported six shifts, and
according to the books it was booked only on 10/29/79,
12: 00 to 8:00 a.m shifts. Also, | asked m ne
managenent at the mne what work had been done. They
didn't seemto know what work had been done. Al so,
sonet hing, the fact that they pulled the roof bolters
out of the section when | was there on 10/26 after

i ssued the citation -- did not care to | eave roof
bolters in there to abate the citation or didn't do it
-- and they could have started work on it and put in a

ot of bolts or do whatever they wanted to do -- there
was no reason given that they couldn't. | had reason
to believe they could. | weighed heavily on it.

Therefore, seeing in that period of time that only 15
roof bolts had been installed in a very snall area near
the tail piece, | would say that little effort to
correct the citation had been nade.

I nspector Coffield also testified that while in the section
each day after he issued the citation he observed mechani cs and
roof bolters there and assuned they were worki ng on the abatenent
or to check out the section (Tr. 303). He also testified that on
the norni ng of Cctober 29, no one advised himof any equi pnent
br eakdowns that may have occurred on the
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m dni ght shift, nor did anyone advise himof any problens that
may have exi sted concerning the supply of resin bolt materials
(Tr. 306). He confirmed that he had a tel ephone conversation
with M. Matkovich that norning, and when M. Matkovich advi sed
himthat the section was closed so that the roof bolts could be
installed, M. Coffield responded "Ckay." M. Coffield confirned
that M. Mtkovi ch wanted an extension of time but could not
recall that he gave any reasons for this request (Tr. 306).

Wth regard to his inquiry of mne managenment as to what
wor k had been done on the abatenent when he arrived at the mne
on Cctober 29, Inspector Coffield stated that he spoke to a M.
Behr ens when he entered the danmp house to change his cl ot hes, but
that M. Behrens indicated that he was not there and did not know
(Tr. 308). M. Coffield also testified that he was "fairly
certain" that he asked m ne foreman Zanski about the abatenent
work but that "he really didn't know how much was done either™
(Tr. 308).

M. Coffield conceded that M. Dom nick did nake a statenent
to himthat he needed "as much tinme as possible" to abate the
citation (Tr. 346). He also conceded that in determ ning that
the conditions cited could have been abated by 8:00 p.m, Cctober
29, on two working shifts, what he had in mnd was the bal ance of
the afternoon shift on Friday, Cctober 26, and then the ni dnight
shift on Monday, October 29 (Tr. 347). He also confirmed that
resin bolts had to be added to the entries that were included in
his citation, but he did not know whether they were avail able on
the section on the afternoon of Cctober 26 (Tr. 347), nor was he
aware of any inoperative bolting nmachine on the Cctober 29
m dni ght shift (Tr. 354). He also alluded to the fact that he
observed at |east four individuals fromm ne managenent on the
section on the norning of Cctober 29, including an engi neer who
was mneasuring bolts (Tr. 353-354), and he confirmed that M.
Behrens did state that the section was down and would remai n down
for production until further work was done (Tr. 365).

M. Domnick testified that when Inspector Coffield asked
hi m how much abatenent tine would be required to correct the roof
spaci ng problens, he replied "all the tine | can get" (Tr. 17).
M. Dominick also testified that the roof bolters were renoved
fromthe area because of the lack of resin bolts, and that the
section was closed down after the citation i ssued because he
suspected that other areas al so needed attention and that m ne
managenment wanted to check the area to ascertain the extent of
t he abat enent work which had to be performed (Tr. 20). M.
Dom nick al so confirned that upon M. Stovash's instructions he
returned to the m ne on Monday, COctober 29, at the day shift
whi ch began at 8:00 a. m, and was acconpani ed by two conpany
m ni ng engi neers and a safety inspector. The purpose of the visit
was to check out the section to deternine the spacing of the roof
bolts and he prepared a report which he submtted to M. Stovash
(Exhibit A-3; Tr. 23-34).

In the prior adjudication of these proceedi ngs Judge
Laurenson granted contestant's contest concerning | nspector



Coffield s refusal to extend the abatenent tinme when he issued
section 104(b) Order No. 0808606 on Novenber 5, 1979. In
vacating that order Judge Laurenson found that
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while contestant failed to totally abate the violation noted in
t he underlying section 104(a) citation No. 0808599, issued on
Cct ober 30, 1979, contestant established that the period of tine
for abatenent should have been further extended by the inspector
Judge Laurenson's rationale in this regard appears at pg. 10 of
hi s deci sion of Cctober 7, 1980, and he concluded that the

i nspector failed to give the contestant proper credit for its
abatement activities. Judge Laurenson found credible
contestant's assertions that work was performed every shift
between the tinme the citation issued and the tine the order

i ssued, except for three shifts on Sunday, Novenber 4, 1979, and
he took particular note that contestant had installed nore than
400 roof bolts, that contestant was obligated to abate nore than
the 350 widely spaced roof bolt violations noted by the

i nspector, added a total of 1,000 roof bolts before the citation
was term nated, and otherw se established that it was making a
diligent and bona fide effort to abate the citation in a tinely
manner. |t seens obvious to me that Judge Laurenson was
particularly inpressed by the extensive efforts nmade by the
contestant to abate a citation which required a great deal of
work and effort by the contestant, and this is the reason why he
vacated the withdrawal order and found that the abatenent tine
shoul d have been extended further by the inspector

In the instant case, Judge Laurenson gave contestant no
credit for voluntarily closing the section down and ceasi ng
production after the citation issued on Friday, October 26.
Further, although he found that part of the cited area required
resin bolts and there were no such supply of bolts avail able on
the section, he also found that contestant ordered the roof
bolting crew out of the section because of a managenent
determ nation that the resin bolts should be installed first but
found that contestant offered no explanation for this action
Judge Laurenson al so concluded that contestant could have call ed
in additional roof bolters during the intervening Saturday and
Sunday but opted not to do so because of a nanagenent
determ nati on that abatenment could be achi eved on t he Mnday,
Cct ober 29th midnight shift. He also found that contestant did
not informlnspector Coffield of any mechani cal or supply
problenms prior to the issuance of the order, that such
i nformati on was hearsay, and that on Monday only 15 roof bolts
out of nore than the required 100 had been install ed.

After careful review and consideration of the entire record
in this case, including the testinony which has been
characterized as "hearsay"” | conclude and find the that the
initial period of abatenent fixed by Inspector Coffield on
Friday, October 26th when he issued the citati on was not
unreasonabl e or arbitrary. As a matter of fact, the record
reasonably supports a conclusion that at that time mne
managenent had no reason to believe that abatenent could not be
achi eved during the subsequent afternoon shift and the m dnight
shift on Monday, October 29. As a matter of fact, Inspector
Coffield testified that while he believed abatenent could be
achieved in two shifts, what he had in mnd was the renai nder of
the Friday shift and the Monday m dni ght shift and not Saturday



or Sunday shifts. However, | further find and conclude that the
i nspector acted unreasonably in failing to extend the abatenent
ti me on Monday, COctober 29, and ny reasons for this follow.
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Contrary to MBHA's argunments that the wal karound representative
said nothing to the inspector when he issued the citation and
fixed the abatement tine, M. Donenick testified that he advised
M. Coffield that he could use all the tine that he could get.
Further, | find credible M. Donenick's testinony that he cl osed
the secti on down because he suspected other areas in the section
may have needed roof bolt attention, and this is further
substantiated by the fact that M. Donenick, a company safety
representative, and two mning engineers returned to the section
on Monday, Cctober 29, for the purpose of surveying and neasuring
the roof bolt spacing, and M. Domenick reported his findings to
the m ne superintendent. M. Coffield confirned that these
i ndi vi dual s were there.

Wth regard to the excluded hearsay, | take note of the fact
t hat when contestant's witnesses testified as to certain
mechani cal and supply problens, MSHA' s counsel interposed no
obj ections, nor did he pursue the matter further on cross
exam nation. Judge Laurenson found that contestant had not
"document ed" these asserted "problens" and failed to comunicate
themto the inspector. M. Zanski's direct testinony nmakes
specific references to a mal functioning roof bolter which was
subsequently repaired, and problenms with the DC power required to
power the equi pnent bringing supplies into the section, and the
testiomy still remains unrebutted. While it is true that the
supply and nechani cal problens were not directly comrunicated to
M. Coffield before he decided to issue a wthdrawal order and
hung up the closure sign, M. Matkovich testified that he spoke
with M. Coffield that very same norning over the tel ephone after
M. Behrens notified himof M. Coffield s decision to issue a
cl osure order, that he specifically asked the inspector for an
extension of tinme, and advised himthat the section had been
cl osed down since Friday for the specific purpose of bolting.
M. Coffield responded "okay". M. Coffield confirmed that M.
Mat kovi ch asked for an extension but he could not recall whether
the had given himany reasons for this request.

Wth regard to Judge Laurenson's finding that contestant
failed to offer any explanation as to why the roof bolters were
taken off the section after the citation issued any why resin
bolts had to installed first, M. Donenick's testinony which
appears at pages 19-20, 37-38, and 45-46, explains the
di fferences between the use of nechanical and resin roof bolts,
and M. Domenick specifically indicated that the two can not be
m xed, that sonme of the areas cited by M. Coffield required
resin bolts, and in response to a specific question asked by
Judge Laurenson, M. Donenick detailed why resin bolts are
required in a certain area and not in others (Tr. 45-46).
Further, the record reflects that M. Coffield confirmed that he
was aware of the fact that resin bolts had to be added in the
entries that were included in his Cctober 26th citation (Tr.
347).

| cannot conclude that the fact that contestant failed to
bring in additional bolters during Saturday and Sunday supports a
concl usion that contestant was indifferent or otherw se unm ndfu



of the fact that it had to abate the citation. |t seens obvious
to ne fromthe testinony presented in this case that neither
I nspector Coffield nor m ne managenent
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initially believed that this was required to abate the conditions
cited. M. Coffield believed that abatenent coul d have been

achi eved during two subsequent shifts, nanely on Friday and
Monday m dni ght, and so to did m ne nanagenent. The fact that

m ne managenment's belief that M. Coffield would sonehow
automatically extend the tine for abatement proved to be wong
has to be considered in light of all of the circunstances and
subsequent events which transpired after the citation issued.

On the facts presented in this case, | find contestant's
expl anations as to why additional bolters were not brought in
Saturday and Sunday to be credible and | accept them The
citation was issued Friday afternoon, regular work schedul es had
al ready been established, and m ne managenent voluntarily shut
the section down and ceased production. It then nmade a conplete
assessnment of the prevailing conditions which existed in the
section; and while it may be argued that part of its notivation
for doing so was to "cover all bets" and to insure that
additional citations would not be issued, |I do not believe that
it should be unduly penalized for this. The section was down,
producti on had ceased, and | believe that contestant was naking a
diligent attenpt to achi eve abatenent. Sinply because only 15
bolts had been installed cannot, in ny view, serve as a basis for
any conclusion that nothing was bei ng done.

In view of the foregoing findings and conclusions, | find
that the record before me supports a conclusion that the
contestant made a good faith effort at tinmely abating the
citation in question, established valid reasons warranting an
extension of tinme to totally abate the citation, and that the
ti me shoul d have been extended by the inspector. Accordingly,
the section 104(b) Order No. 0808596, issued on Cctober 29, 1979
| S VACATED.

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Docket Nos. WEVA 80-117-R and WEVA 80- 659

These consol i dated dockets concern the question as to
whet her a section 104(d) (1) "unwarrantable failure" citation (no.
0808599) issued by Inspector Coffield to the contestant on
Cct ober 30, 1979, was properly issued, and if so, the appropriate
civil penalty which should be assessed for the violation, taking
into account the six statutory criteria found in section 110(i)
of the Act.

In the prior adjudication of contest Docket No. WVEVA
80-117-R, Judge Laurenson found that MSHA had established the
required findings of unwarrantability at the tinme the citation
i ssued, rejected contestant's defense in this regard, and found
that the contestant had failed to exercise due diligence and
reasonabl e care to correct the conditions cited by the inspector
prior to the issuance of the citation for a violation of
mandat ory safety standard 30 CFR 75.200. He concluded that the
violation was the result of an unwarrantable failure by
contestant and affirnmed the inspector's finding in this regard.
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Wth regard to the inspector's further findings that the citation
constituted a "significant and substantial" violation, Judge
Laurenson found that the violation could significantly and
substantially contribute to the cause and effect of a coal nine
safety hazard, and in so doing he relied on the then applicable
case precedent in Al abama By-Products, 7 |IBVMA 85 (1976).

As noted earlier in this case, followi ng an appeal to the
Fourth Grcuit, the Court vacated and remanded Judge Laurenson's
deci si on because Comni ssion precedent on the el enent of
"significant and substantial"™ had changed during the time the
case was before the Court. The recent decision of the Conm ssion
whi ch changed the required burden of proof on the "significant

and substantial" issue is Cenent Division, National Gypsum
Conpany v. Secretary, 2 BNA MSHRC 1201 (1981), 3 FMSHRC 822
(1981). In that case, the Commi ssion outlined the new definition

of the term"significant and substantial" as follows:

we hold that a violation is of such a nature as
could significantly and substantially contribute to the
cause and effect of a mne safety or health hazard if,
based on the particular facts surroundi ng that
violation, there exists a reasonable Iikelihood that
the hazard contributed to will result in an injury or
illness of a reasonably serious nature. (Enphasis
added.)

The Conmi ssion al so made the followi ng pertinent comment in
Nat i onal Gypsum

Al t hough the Act does not define the key terns "hazard
or "significantly and substantially', in this context
we understand the word "hazard' to denote a neasure of
danger to safety or health, and that a violation
"significantly and substantially' contributes to the
cause and effect of a hazard if the violation could be
a maj or cause of a danger to safety or health. In

ot her words, the contribution to cause and effect nust
be significant and substantial."

In support of their respective argunments applying the
Nati onal Gypsum "significant and substantial"” standard, the
parties have submtted the argunents which foll ow bel ow
MSHA' s ar gunent s

MBHA asserts that the record in this case reflects that in
the subject four right five north section of contestant's
Shoenaker M ne, MSHA | nspector Charles Coffield found
approxi mately 350 wi dely spaced bolts in the intake escape entry,
t hree adj oi ni ng roons (nunmbers 31, 32 and 33) adjacent to that
entry, and in the supply track entry (Tr. 308-309, 311).
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In the intake escape entry and adjoi ning roons, M. Coffield
found that the range of spacing for the bolts were fromfour feet
seven inches to five feet eleven inches (Tr. 310). In the supply
track entry the range was fromfour feet seven inches to seven
feet six inches (Tr. 311). Union wal karound representative
Charles Pyle testified that sone of the bolts were spaced six
feet wide and he renenbers one in the vicinity of seven feet (Tr.
267, 274). Cenerally the spacing between bolts was wider in the
supply track entry than in the other cited areas (Tr. 313). The
appl i cabl e roof control plan required roof bolt spacing of four
feet six inches.

Concedi ng that the roof was basically sound, MSHA argues
that there were three different |ocations in the aforenentioned
areas where M. Coffield observed that the roof was | oose or
unsupported between the bolts and could have fallen at any tine
(Tr. 373, 405, 407). There were a nunber of mners in the
section who were potentially exposed to the hazards. At |east
two mechanics were in the section on GCctober 30 (Tr. 119, 124,
167). Although contestant's superintendent Ronald Stovash
testified that the nechanics were in the section sinply to wait
for maintenance problens to arise on the roof bolter, MSHA points
out that mner Charles Pyle testified that the mechanics were
wor king on a feeder and on a shuttle car (Tr. 265-266). Nornmally
seven to eight people work in a mne section (Tr. 444). A
menbers of the crew could be expected to pass under the seven
foot six inch spacing, which was in the vicinity of the dinner
hole (Tr. 267, 312-313).

In analyzing the test enunciated in the National Gypsum
deci si on, MSHA suggests that the foll owi ng questions need to be
addressed in this case:

1. What is the hazard contributed to by the violation?

2. Is there a reasonable |ikelihood that the hazard
contributed to will result in an injury or illness?
3. Wuld that injury or illness be of a reasonably

serious nature?

Inits argunents in support of the first two questions, NMSHA
asserts that the hazard contributed to by the violation in this

case is the increased possibility of a roof fall, either or a
maj or portion of the roof or of a small fall of roof material
frombetween the bolts. 1In answer to the second question, NMSHA

argues that given the facts in this case, there was a reasonabl e
I'i kelihood that the hazard contributed to would result in an
injury, and in support of this conclusion advances six reasons
why a roof fall was reasonably likely to occur and lead to injury
and these are as foll ows:
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1. In three different locations in the cited area
roof was | oose or unsupported between the bolts and
could have fallen at anytimne.

2. The w dest spaci ng docunented by M. Coffield,
seven feet six inches, was in the vicinity of the

di nner hole. During normal operations, every person on
the section could be expected to pass in the vicinity
of that violative condition

3. As the roof control plan itself specifies, it is a
m ni mum pl an. Even when roof control plans are
followed to the letter, falls occur on occasion
Nonconpl i ance with a roof control plan certainly

i ncreases the likelihood of a fall.

4. The area with the greatest concentration of w de
spaci ng was the supply track entry. The vibration
caused there by the operation of supply notors

i ncreases the possibility of a roof fall even under
situations where the plan is foll owed.

5. The supply entry was frequently travel ed.

6. As contestant's witness Peter J. Dom nick
testified, "pretty nice sized" pieces of roof,
measuring up to two feet by three feet, had fallen to
the floor in the four right, five north section. (Tr.
36) .

Regarding the final question posed in its analysis, NMSHA
argues that if a roof fall had occurred and included a mgjor
portion of the roof (e.g., above the anchorages of the roof
bolts), crippling or fatal injuries would afflict anyone in the
vicinity not fortunate enough to be protected by a cab or canopy.
Further, MSHA suggests that even small falls from between the
bolts likely would cause anyone contacted by the roof material to
suffer serious injuries, and points to mner Charles Pyle's
testinmony that a piece of roof material the size of a brief case
which fell fromthe foor of the Shoenaker M ne could break a
man's back (Tr. 276-277).

Contestant's argunents

Contestant submits that taking into account the definition
of "significant and substantial" as set forth in the Nationa
Gypsum case, there did not exist, on Cctober 30, 1979, any
reasonabl e |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to would result
inan injury or illness of a reasonable serious nature. Concedi ng
that the citation alleges many roof bolt spacing violations in
approxi mately 350 different |ocations, contestant notes that
I nspector Coffield acknow edged that he only neasured
approxi mately 200 different |ocations and that he "eyebal |l ed" the
rest (approximately 150) of the alleged violations (Tr. pp
358-59). Mbreover,



~767

contestant asserts that M. Coffield did not recall and had no
notes to indicate how many of the alleged violations were in
excess of five feet (Tr. p. 359), and therefore nmaintains that it
is difficult to determ ne the actual extent of roof bolt spacing
vi ol ati ons that existed on October 30, 1979. Although contestant
does not dispute the fact that sone violations were present on
the day in question, it nakes the latter points only to show that
the extent of the violation was definitely not as serious as

I nspector Coffield nmade it appear in his citation. Cting M.
Coffield s testinony at pages 313-314 and 370-376 of the
transcript, contestant maintains that it becones clear that his
only basis for finding a "significant and substantial" violation
was his generalized belief or assunption that any roof bolt

spaci ngs that are not in conplete conpliance with the roof
support plan can cause a significant and substantial hazard of a
roof fall. Contestant submits that a generalized assunption of
this nature, without specific factual findings, is inadequate to
support a conclusion that a particular condition can
significantly and substantially contribute to a mne safety
hazard so as to justify a section 104(d)(1) citation

Contestant points to the fact that in National Gypsum the
Conmi ssion made it clear that in a 104(d) citation there nmust be
somet hing nore than just a violation, which itself presupposes at

| east a renote possibility of an injury. Instead, the inspector
"is to make significant and substantial findings in addition to a
finding of violation." Contestant asserts that it is apparent

that I nspector Coffield did not nake such findings and that he

i nproperly assuned that all roof bolt spacing violations were
significant and substantial since there is a possibility that the
roof could fall between the bolts. Contestant naintains that
this theoretical possibility is not sufficient to sustain a
104(d) citation, and that the evidence sinply does not support a
finding that there existed a reasonable |ikelihood that the

al | eged hazard contributed to would result in an injury or
illness of a reasonably serious nature.

In support of its argument, contestant notes that every
wi tness who testified on the matter acknow edged that roof
conditions in the 5 North, 4 R ght section of the Shoemaker M ne
were good, and that nost of the w tnesses described the roof
conditions as being very good or excellent (Tr. pp. 26, 55-56,
110-11, 133-34, 165), and Inspector Coffield hinself acknow edged
that the roof conditions in the 4 Right section were "basically
sound" in Cctober of 1979 (Tr. p. 374). Moreover, contestant
asserts that except for one fall which had occurred due to a clay
vein in the area of the juncture of 5 North, 4 Ri ght when the
section was initially being advanced in Septenber of 1978, there
had been no roof falls in the 4 Right section up to and incl udi ng
the tine of the hearing (Tr. pp. 26, 56-57, 110-11, 133-34, 165).
Thus, contestant concludes it is clear that we are dealing with a
situation wherein the all eged hazard of a roof fall cannot be
presuned, as Inspector Coffield obviously did, and that sonme
specific facts nmust exist to justify a finding of a substanti al
and significant risk of a hazard on Cctober 30, 1979.



Contestant points to the fact that Inspector Coffield
acknow edged that he issued a section 104(a) citation on October
26 with respect to roof support spacing violations in the sane
section of the m ne where
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he subsequently issued the section 104(d)(1) citation
Recogni zi ng the fact that an inspector has sole discretion in
determ ni ng when and what citations he will issue, contestant
nonet hel ess asserts that an inspector cannot exam ne a section
find roof support violations in |arge areas of that section
select only a small area of the section for a Section 104(a)
citation one day and then several days |later conme back and issue
section 104(d) (1) unwarrantable failure citation for the |arger
area. Contestant mmintains that Inspector Coffield s waiting
until Tuesday, Cctober 30, to issue the unwarrantable citation
for the larger area of the section sinply does not justify a
finding that the condition could substantially and significantly
contribute to a mne safety hazard.

Contestant submits that no hazard existed in the 5 North, 4
Ri ght section of the m ne on October 30, 1979, and points to the
fact that no coal was being produced in the section on Tuesday
nmor ni ng, COct ober 30, when the unwarrantable failure citation was
i ssued. Further, contestant argues that since the only enpl oyees
in the section were the roof bolters and nmechani cs who were
required to be there for the purpose of abating the previous
citation and order issued by Inspector Coffield, there was only a
limted and necessary exposure of enployees. |In addition
contestant maintains that there had been no roof falls in the
section since it had been devel oped in Septenber of 1978, that
I nspector Coffield acknow edged there had been no fatalities or
injuries related to roof falls in the section, that Judge
Laur enson concl uded that the roof conditions were good and that
there was no evidence of recent roof falls or any cracks, splits
or loose bolts, and that enployees had been working in and
wal ki ng through the same area of the section for at |east six
nmont hs before Cctober 1979 w thout any incident and there is no
evi dence that anything usual or different existed on that day
with respect to the conditions of the roof.

Finally, contestant maintains that Judge Laurenson sustai ned
the section 104(d) citation because he felt that the evidence
established that the "possibility of a roof fall injury in the
cited area was neither renote nor specul ative", citing Al abama
By- Products. However, since the Al abama By-Products test has
been overrul ed by the Comm ssion, contestant submits that Judge
Laurenson hi nsel f woul d not have sustained the citation if he had
been using the standard | ater adopted by the Commi ssion in the
Nati onal Gypsum case. Further, contestant observes that in
Nati onal Gypsumthe Conmm ssion noted that the violation of any
health or safety standard presupposes the possibility of it
contributing to an injury or illness. However, since the
| anguage in section 104(d) of the 1977 Act makes it clear that a
significant and substantial finding it to be nade in addition to
a finding of a violation, contestant asserts somnething nore than

the possibility of an injury or illness nust exist; there nust be
a "reasonable |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to wll
result in injury or illness of a reasonably serious nature.”

Cont est ant concludes that there sinply were no facts to justify
such a finding in this case and the 104(d) citation should
t heref ore be vacat ed.
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After careful consideration of the entire record adduced in this
proceedi ng, including the argunments presented by the parties in
support of their respective positions, | conclude and find that
MSHA has the better part of the argunent in support of its
conclusion that the citation issued by Inspector Coffield on
Cct ober 30, 1979, was in fact "significant and substantial", even
under the test enunciated by the National Gypsum deci sion
Al though it may be true that enpl oyees had been working and
wal ki ng through the section for at |east six nmonths prior to
Cct ober 1979 without incident, the fact is that on Cctober 30,
the roof conditions were different. At |east 140 additional roof
bol ts had been added in the section since the first citation
i ssued on Cctober 26, and nmechanics and roof bolters were in the
section perform ng abatenent work. Further, at pg. 23 of its
brief, contestant concedes that on Cctober 30 the risk of hazard
on the section was less than it had previously been since the
section was closed down and fewer workers were exposed and ni ne
managenent was in the process of checking out the section and
doi ng abatenment work. Therefore, contrary to its earlier
argunent that no hazards exi sted on October 30, fromthe record
and argunents presented in this case | conclude that a hazard did
exi st on the section and that is precisely why the inspector
issued the citation citing a violation of section 75.200, and
that is precisely why the abatenent work was going on. | also
take note of contestant's admi ssion at pg. 23 of its brief that
there was in fact a "limted and necessary exposure of
enpl oyees”. |In summary, contrary to contestant's suggestions
that no hazards existed and that no enpl oyees were exposed to a
potential roof fall injury because the section had been shut
down, | conclude and find that enployees were in fact working in
the section and that a hazard did exist. The crucial question is
whet her or not the prevailing hazards on the section on October
30 were "significant and substantial "

Contrary to contestant's assertion that there had been no
roof falls in the section since it was devel oped, Judge Laurenson
specifically noted at page 9 of his decision of Cctober 7, 1980,
that "there was evidence of at |least one prior fall of supported
roof in this section". As a matter of fact, Judge Laurenson took
particul ar note of the fact that contestant's own mne forenman
Zanski conceded that wi de spaced roof bolts increased the
possibility of roof falls. Further, in finding No. 18, at page 5
of his decision, Judge Laurenson specifically found that in the
supply track entry cited by Inspector Coffield "all persons who
wal ked under the w de spaced roof bolts were exposed to the
danger of a roof fall". Although Judge Laurenson observed that
the roof in question was generally acknow edged to be in good
condition, contestant's assertion that he nmade a finding that
there was no evidence of roof cracks, splits, or |oose bolts is
taken our of context. Judge Laurenson's sequential finding No. 4
whi ch appears at page 3 of his decision appears to be related to
citation no. 0808594, which does not include the track entry area
which is the subject of the instant "significant and substantial"”
citation. In addition, the official transcript of the hearings
contains testinony by the inspector that in at |east three
different locations in the section the roof was |oose, cracked,



or unsupported between the bolts and could fall at any time (Tr.
406-407). There is also testimony by M. Coffield that his
determ nation that the roof was basically sound was made by
"observation and sounding the roof", but that this does not

guar ant ee
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that there will be no falls of roof material from between the
bolts (Tr. 409). Further, as noted by Judge Laurenson at pg. 9 of
his decision at sone |ocations the roof bolts were seven feet
apart. This is two and one-half feet further apart than required
by the approved control plan.

In view of the foregoing, |I conclude and find that the roof
conditions cited by Inspector Coffield which resulted in the
i ssuance of the citation in question presented a reasonabl e
i kelihood that the hazards presented by the w dely spaced roof
bolts, as well as the areas described by the inspector as being
| oose between the bolts at several |ocations, constituted a
significant and substantial hazard to those mners working and
traveling through the cited areas. The danger presented was a
roof fall, particularly in the track entry where the roof bolt
spaci ng was the widest, and the real potential for a fall in any
of these locations was the direct result of the violation

Contestant's suggestion that |Inspector Coffield sonmehow
acted arbitrarily by including an additional area of the mne as
part of the section 104(d)(1) citation which he had not included
in his previous section 104(a) citation, is rejected. As
correctly pointed out by Judge Laurenson at pg. 8 of his
decision, the validity of a citation nust stand or fall on its
own nerits. Having considered the instant citation on its own
merits, and taking into account the aforesaid findings and
concl usions nade by ne in this case, the section 104(d)(1)
Citation No. 0808599, issued by Inspector Coffield on Cctober 30,
1979, IS AFFIRMED and the contest is DISMSSED. | also reaffirm
Judge Laurenson's prior finding of a violation of section 75.200,
as well as finding that the citation resulted fromthe
contestant's unwarrantable failure to conply with the cited
mandat ory safety standard

Cvil Penalty Assessnent - WEVA 80- 659

In determ ning the amount of civil penalty assessnents,
section 110(i) of the 1977 Act requires consideration of the
following criteria: (1) the operator's history of previous
viol ations; (2) the appropriateness of such penalty to the size
of the business of the operator charged; (3) whether the operator
was negligent; (4) the effect on the operator's ability to
continue in business; (5) the gravity of the violation; and (6)

t he denonstrated good faith of the operator in attenpting to
achieve rapid conpliance after notification of the violation

Wth respect to item2, the parties have stipul ated that
Consol is a large operator. Wth respect to item4, the parties
have stipul ated that the assessnent of an appropriate civil
penalty will not affect Consol's ability to remain in business.
Wth respect to item1, concerning the respondent’'s history of
prior violations, although the parties advised ne that NMSHA woul d
submt a conputer print-out reflecting prior assessed violations
| evi ed agai nst the respondent’'s Shoenaker M ne for the 24-nonth
peri od preceding the issuance of the citation in question, no
such
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i nformati on has been filed with me, nor does MSHA address this
issue inits brief. Accordingly, |I have no basis for making any
finding in this regard.

Good faith abat enent

The inspector fixed the abatenent tinme for citation 0808599
as Friday, Novenber 2, 1979, at 8:00 a.m Judge Laurenson found
that Consol protested the term nation due date at the tine the
citation issued, and that the inspector did not return to the
m ne on Novenber 2, 1979. Wen he returned the foll owi ng Monday,
Novermber 5, 1979, he found that only 155 new roof bolts had been
installed, and refused to extend the abatenent tinme further. He
then issued a section 104(b) withdrawal order for failure to
abate the conditions (Order No. 0808606).

Consol successfully challenged Order No. 0808606, and Judge
Laurenson vacated the order after finding that the inspector
failed to give proper credit to Consol for its abatenent
activities and erred in refusing to extend the time for abatenent
of this violation (Docket WEVA 80-118-R). Judge Laurenson found
that Consol nmade a bona fide effort to abate the citation in a
timely manner, and that 1,000 roof bolts were added to the
section before the citation was term nated. Although the
i nspector cited 350 roof bolts in violation of the roof plan on
Cct ober 30, 1979, Judge Laurenson took note of the fact that
Consol had installed nore than 400 roof bolts by Novenber 5,
1979, and that except for Sunday, Novenber 4, 1979, roof bolters
wor ked every shift between the tinme the citation issued and the
time the order was issued Novenber 5, 1979.

In view of the foregoing, |I conclude and find that
respondent exhi bited good faith conpliance in correcting the
conditions cited and this fact is reflected in the civil penalty
assessnment made by nme in this matter.

Gavity

I conclude and find that the violation concerning the
wi del y-spaced roof bolts in the areas cited by the inspector in
the citation presented a potential hazard for a roof fall which
could have resulted in injuries to mners and that this violation
was seri ous.

Negl i gence

I conclude and find that the record supports a concl usion
that the wi del y-spaced bolts were inserted sone tine prior to the
day the citation in question issued. Even considering the fact
that the record in these consolidated proceedi ngs contains
i nformati on concerning an MSHA "gui deline"” dealing with a
so-cal l ed "spacing tol erance", this issue is not further
addressed by the parties and | consider it irrelevant. On the
facts and record here presented, particularly the fact that a
m ne operator is
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expected to know the requirenents of his own approved roof
control plan, | conclude that the violation resulted fromthe
respondent's failure to exercise reasonable care to prevent the
cited conditions or practices which caused the violation, and
that this anpbunts to ordi nary negligence.

Penal ty Assessnent

| take note of the fact that MSHA' s proposal for assessnent
of civil penalty in this civil penalty docket seeks an assessnent
of $1,000 for the violation in question. Taking into account the
af orementi oned findi ngs and concl usi ons, and the requirenents of
seciton 110(i) of the Act, | find that this proposed assessnent
is reasonable and | adopt it as my penalty assessnent in this
case.

ORDERS
Docket No. WEVA 80-116-R

Section 104(b) Order No. 0808596, Cctober 29, 1979, 1S
VACATED.

Docket No. WEVA 80-117-R

Section 104(d)(1) Ctation No. 0808599, Cctober 30, 1979, IS
AFFI RVED.

Docket No. WEVA 80- 659

Respondent Consolidati on Coal Company IS ORDERED to pay the
civil penalty assessed by me in this case, in the anount of
$1,000, within thirty (30) days of the date of this decision and
order, and upon receipt of same by MSHA, this matter is
DI SM SSED.

Docket No. WEVA 80-118-R
By agreenment and consent of the parties, this case is

DI SM SSED.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Admi ni strative Law Judge



